

## RESOLUTION E: MIGRATION WITH DIGNITY

*Resolved*, that the 43rd Convention of the Diocese of El Camino Real [submits the following resolutions and the accompanying explanation to the 81<sup>st</sup> General Convention of The Episcopal Church, with such modifications as may be necessary to conform the text and formatting of the resolutions and explanation to the rules of the General Convention:](#)

[Resolved, that the 81<sup>st</sup> General Convention](#), as people of faith, recognizes and honors the divine spark that animates all human beings and advocates for Migration with Dignity, which is a set of immigration policies that ~~assures~~ [champions](#) equal and respectful treatment of all people as set forth in McClain, Shanna, Bruch, Carl et al., "Migration With Dignity: a Legal and Policy Framework," 17 Journal of Disaster Research 3 (2022).

*Resolved*, that, acknowledging that grave and serious mistreatment of ethnic minorities, migrants and refugees is currently on the rise in the midst of record migration across international borders, the ~~Episcopal Diocese of El Camino Real~~ [81<sup>st</sup> General Convention](#), consistent with resolutions of the General Conventions of The Episcopal Church, declares itself to be in support of the following human rights included within the Migration with Dignity framework for all migrants, including refugees, asylum seekers, displaced persons, and those who cross borders in search of opportunity:

A universal right of movement consistent with the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), including freedom to leave and return to one's country of origin, freedom of movement within one's country of origin or country of settlement (UDHR, Article 13).

The right to be secure: from sexual violence including rape and sexual exploitation, human trafficking, slavery, forced labor and arbitrary and abusive detention.

The right of equality, to include: 1) equal treatment with no discrimination under the law based on color, gender, language, religion, political affiliation, national origin. and 2) equal opportunity for upward mobility.

The right to access a basic quality of life, including employment, housing, and food.

The right to access services such as health care, education and legal representation.

Civil and political rights guaranteeing the right to identity, to use of one's language, and to freedom of speech and religion.

*Resolved*, that the ~~Episcopal Diocese of El Camino Real~~ [81<sup>st</sup> General Convention](#) calls upon all Episcopalians, [congregations, and dioceses](#) to ~~recommend~~ [advocate](#) that ~~their respective~~ local, state, ~~and~~ national, [and international](#) governing bodies promote Migration with Dignity by enforcing existing laws and policies on behalf of refugees, migrants, asylum seekers, and displaced persons, and by enacting new

laws and policies guaranteeing their welcome, protection, and integration into our common human journey.

### *Explanation*

Advocacy for Migration with Dignity follows directly from the teachings of Jesus, while aligning with the world's other great religions and principled humanism.

This resolution is needed as a positive general statement, reaffirming and updating the Episcopal Church's overall, long-standing commitment to human rights as they pertain to just treatment of the world's refugees, asylum-seekers, and all migrants.

The resolution is deeply grounded in Scripture. No moral guidance is more clearly articulated in both Biblical testaments than the need to "welcome the stranger." A few examples:

Old Testament: "Don't mistreat any foreigners who live in your land. Instead, treat them as well as you treat citizens and love them as much as you love yourself. Remember, you were once foreigners in the land of Egypt. I am the Lord your God" (Leviticus 19:33-34).

New Testament: "Be sure to welcome strangers into your home. By doing this, some people have welcomed angels as guests, without even knowing it." (Hebrews 13:2)

Jesus's second great commandment: "Love your neighbor as yourself."

The six human rights (freedom of movement, to be secure, equality, basic quality of life, access to services, and civil and political rights) align with, and can be derived from, the United Nation's [Universal Declaration of Human Rights](#). The Episcopal Church has strongly supported this landmark statement since it was initially proclaimed by the United Nations General Assembly in 1948.

The resolution also accords with and supports key positions of the Anglican Communion. As set forth in the [Lambeth Call: Human Dignity](#) of 2022, actions against the human dignity of God's children, including those against migrants and refugees, are sin, and hospitality to all and faithfulness to each are key marks of a godly community (1 Pt. 4:8-10). A copy of this statement is available from the contact person.

As a single, direct positive statement of principle, the resolution draws together positions that have been affirmed in more than 50 General Convention and Executive Council resolutions over the years. It will help us communicate our church's stance more effectively, build support, and work alongside other pro-migrant organizations toward a world in which fundamental human rights extend to all people. A listing of the previous resolutions that support Migration With Dignity, with links to their full text, is attached as a supporting document.

The resolution, taken as a whole, defines a much-needed, innovative response to the increasing challenge of global migration. Current approaches have proven inadequate to this challenge. Grave and serious mistreatment of ethnic minorities, migrants, and refugees is currently on the rise both in the United States and globally in the midst of record migration across international borders. The number of international migrants grew to 281 million in 2020, meaning that 3.6% of the world's people lived outside their country of birth that year, according to the United

Nations' International Organization for Migration (IOM). With nearly 50 million immigrants\* currently living within our borders, the U.S. leads the world as a destination for migrants.

#### Supporting Documents

1. The UN's [Universal Declaration of Human Rights](#)
2. [Lambeth Call: Human Dignity](#) of 2022
3. List of more than 50 General Convention and Executive Council resolutions that align with Migration with Dignity (attached)

#### *Proposed by*

All Saints' Palo Alto Vestry

Phillip Palmer            pmpalmer@sbcglobal.net (contact person)

All Saints' Palo Alto Delegates, 43rd Diocesan Convention

Leslie Bannerman      bannermanleslie@gmail.com  
Susan Barkan            sabarkan@mac.com  
Ann Lane                annmlane@gmail.com  
Dale Tatum               daletatum@hotmail.com

All Saints' Palo Alto Alternate Delegates 43rd Diocesan Convention

Diane Goldman         dianeg1686@gmail.com  
Bill Steigelmann        wsteigelmann@yahoo.com

---

\* Including documented and undocumented immigrants regardless of when they arrived.

## GENERAL CONVENTION AND EXECUTIVE COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS THAT ALIGN WITH MIGRATION WITH DIGNITY

*This document aligns all of the [immigration and refugee policies listed on OGR's website](#) with the six "pillars" of the Migration with Dignity framework. (To read the complete version of a policy resolution, press "control" and click on the link provided.)*

*In some cases, it isn't easy to decide under which pillar to place a given policy, but all of the pillars are supported by the range of existing Episcopal Church policies.*

*(RGM) means that OGR lists a policy under the heading Refugees and Global Migration; the other policies are listed under Immigration Policy.*

*- Advocacy Subgroup, EMM Asylum and Detention Ministry Network - January 2023*

### **Freedom of Movement**

- Deplore any action by the Government of the United States which unduly emphasizes enforcement, including militarization of the border between the United States and Mexico, as the primary response to immigrants entering the United States to work [\(2006-A017\)](#)
- Urge the United States Government to implement policies and practices that extend the protection of asylum to such vulnerable persons. [\(EXC022004.28\)](#)
- Maintain a just system of asylum for persecuted persons seeking safety in the United States. [\(1997-D081\)](#)
- Call the US Congress to enact immigration legislation that recognizes the human realities of undocumented people in this country and that provides asylum for those fleeing political repression. [\(1985-D113\)](#)
- Permit the orderly entry of legal workers to the US to respond to recognized labor force needs; ensure that close family members be allowed to enter or be reunited with individuals legally entering the US to accept employment; ensure that migrants working legally in the US be granted the rights and benefits accorded US workers, including the right to change employment. [\(EXC062005.40\)](#)
- (RGM) Urge all nations, especially the United States, to actively accept vulnerable SOGIESC refugees and asylees, and not send them back to their countries of origin , where they face persecution, violence, prison and possible death [\(2022-D045\)](#)
- (RGM) Urge governments to expand refugee resettlement as a humanitarian response that offers individuals safety and opportunity; Insist that the United States of America and all other nations to the best of their ability, contribute to resettlement, establish and maintain safe and orderly humanitarian protection for refugees, internally displaced persons, and other migrants seeking long-term solutions and safety [\(2018-D009\)](#)
- (RGM) We recognize that displacement due to climate change already happens and will increase, and we insist that our governments and the international community must commit to development of long-term protection solutions for persons displaced by climate change [\(2018-D009\)](#)
- (RGM) We will endeavor to learn and address root causes of migration and advocate for just solutions with Anglican/Episcopal, ecumenical, and interfaith partners [\(2018-D009\)](#)
- (RGM) Affirm the universal right to seek asylum [\(2015-D033\)](#)

- (RGM) Reaffirm the historic commitment of the Episcopal Church to the protection of refugees and asylum seeker. ([EXC022004.28](#))
- (RGM) Advocate a generous program of refugee admissions ([1997-D018](#))
- (RGM) Commend efforts to resettle refugees and encourages Episcopalians to accept refugees in their communities. It urges fair treatment of Salvadoran and Haitian refugees and permanent status for political and economic refugees. ([1982-A063](#))

### **Right to be Secure**

- Advocate for a fundamental change to the way we process migrants, moving away from detention ([2022-D031](#))
- Oppose the U.S. government's increased use of electronic monitoring and surveillance of immigrants that can intrude on their privacy and sense of personal security ([2022-D031](#))
- Urge the US government to consider alternatives to a costly prison-like detention system for immigrants. ([2009-B006](#))
- (RGM) Call upon The Episcopal Church to advocate for the protection of refugees, conflict resolution, and sustainable development in South Sudan and Sudan. ([2015-B018](#))
- (RGM) Advocate for the United States government to play a positive role, to strengthen legal institutions through financial support, and to encourage the governments of Central America and Mexico to acknowledge and uphold the legal rights of the displaced, asylum seekers, and victims of crimes perpetrated by armed groups and/or state actors ([2015-D033](#))
- (RGM) Acknowledge the regional nature of this migration and call for a robust, holistic, regional humanitarian response from the U.S. government and its allies that addresses the root causes of violence in the Central America region (including the deportation policies of the US government, arms trafficking, and drug consumption in the United States). ([2015-D033](#))
- (RGM) Support the right of women fleeing female genital mutilation to be granted refugee status and asylum in the US. ([1997-C017](#))

### **Right of Equality**

- While recognizing the duty and right of a sovereign nation to protect and defend its borders, adopt the following fundamental principles: Undocumented aliens should have reasonable opportunity to pursue permanent residency; Legal workers should be allowed to enter the United States to respond to recognized labor force needs; Close family members should be allowed to reunite without undue delay with individuals lawfully present in the United States; Fundamental U.S. principles of legal due process should be granted all persons; Enforcement of national borders and immigration policies should be proportional and humane. ([2006-A017](#))
- Urge that the Congress to expand the temporary workers' programs to include all persons currently residing in the U.S. engaged in meaningful labor, as well as overseas workers offered employment in the United States through formal contractual arrangements in response to the labor needs of specific sectors of the economy; that temporary workers receive compensation and benefits parallel those available to other

legal residents; have the option of adjusting to permanent resident status, based upon a specified period of residence in the United States. (2003-C033)

- Support a welfare system that does not discriminate on the basis of marital status, age, legal immigrant status or ability to identify other parent. (EXC021995.07)
- (RGM) In the event that people are forced to migrate, we insist that our governments address the drivers holistically, without racial, ethnic, socioeconomic status, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental ability, health status, or religious prejudice (2018-D009)
- (RGM) Call upon governments to provide safety for their LGBTI residents and asylum for those seeking to emigrate from nations in which people are under threat of criminal penalties, imprisonment, torture, death, and/or mob violence on the basis of their LGBTI identity and/or advocacy (EXC022014.29)
- (RGM) Urge the U.S Government and international community to work to end discriminatory practices that leave women and children vulnerable to statelessness, including efforts to ensure equality between women and men in nationality laws and access to documentation, the promotion of birth registration, and greater efforts in the identification stateless persons so that their needs may be addressed (2012-B028)
- (RGM) Urge the US government to apply its refugee policies in a uniform and equitable manner without regard to the nationality, race or creed of those seeking refugee status. (1994-A101)

### **Right to a Basic Quality of Life**

- Urge for a halt to the implementation and intensification of inhumane and unjust immigration policies and practices i.e. family detention and separation (2018-A178)
- Call for an immediate end to the inhumane practice of family detention. (2015-D033)
- Call upon The Episcopal Church to recommit to the spirit of the New Sanctuary Movement so congregations can assist immigrant individuals, unaccompanied minors, families, and communities in the absence of comprehensive, humane immigration reform. (2015-D057)
- Commitment to humane and proportional immigration policies (EXC062014.08)
- Call for accountability and oversight to ensure detainees are provided with humanitarian treatment, adequate food and medical care and sanitary conditions (2009-B006)

### **Right to Access Services**

- Provide community-based and community-supported alternatives to detention; fund nongovernmental non-profit organizations to deliver case management support based on individualized needs assessments; Include referrals to community-supported services, especially legal services; treat asylum seekers and migrants with dignity, humanity, and respect, assuring that any restrictions and compliance obligations placed on participants are the least onerous possible. (2022-D031)
- Urge all governments to keep their commitments and legal obligations to respect the rights and dignity of all people, including access to justice and social services, while recognizing the complexity of developing just immigration policies in any country, and the legitimate need to protect borders and address security threats to sovereign nations (2018-D009)

- Provide access to physical and mental health care to all in immigration detention, including to the full range of reproductive health care and sanitary products for women and girls (2018-A178)
- Advocate for increased access to and funding for legal orientation programs and legal representation for Central American refugees and asylum seekers (2015-D033)
- Urge Administration to provide: timely and readily available access to the child welfare system for detained parents; increased use of alternatives to detention for those individuals who pose no threat to society; the elimination of the detention bed mandate (EXC062014.08)
- Urge US government to ensure that needy immigrants are not unfairly denied essential services and benefits. (1997-D081)
- (RGM) Urge the United States Congress to reform the Refugee Act of 1980 in order to modernize the nation's refugee program; Modernizations such as meeting the urgent needs of a diverse refugee population through specialized and extended case management, culturally and linguistically appropriate mental health services, recertification assistance for refugees with a professional background, restoration of federal benefits from 8 months to at least one year, housing and transportation assistance, and other innovative policies that create sustainable integration pathways for refugees (2012-B028)

### **Civil and Political Rights**

- Advocate for our government to prioritize policies that will help reduce and eventually eliminate the need for detention and surveillance for virtually all migrants. (2022-D031)
- Affirm comprehensive immigration reform to include: Keeping families together, Respecting the United States Bill of Rights, Honoring Human and Worker Rights, Providing a Pathway to Citizenship (2018-C033)
- Support U.S. executive policies that deemphasize immigrant enforcement action against those who have not committed felony crimes (2018-A178)
- Advocate through education, communication, and representation before legislative authorities the continuation of Temporary Protective Status (TPS) for all persons fleeing to or currently resident in the US seeking refuge from violence, environmental disaster, economic devastation, or cultural abuse, domestic abuse, or other forms of abuse (2018-C033)
- Urge our members, as people of faith and people of conscience, pledge to challenge and question any unjust immigration law, policy, or practice that is inconsistent with our biblical mandate to “not wrong or oppress a resident alien” (Exodus 22:21) (2018-C009)
- Affirm our church's support for U.S. executive policies that deemphasize immigrant enforcement action against those who have not committed felony crimes, and reaffirm our church's support for congressional action for comprehensive and just reform of the broken U.S. immigration system. (2018-C009)
- Call for the immediate release of detained asylum seekers (particularly those who are LGBT, indigenous persons unable to communicate in English or Spanish, and persons who have disabilities or life-threatening illnesses). (2015-D033)
- Support automatic grant of citizenship by the country in which a person is born (“birthright citizenship”). (2015-D069)

- Deplore the unprecedented levels of detention and deportation carried out by the U.S. government against individuals who pose no threat to society. ([EXC062014.08](#))
- Urge that when deportations do occur, individuals are repatriated in a safe and humane manner. ([EXC062014.08](#))
- Support federal legislation that presents a pathway to citizenship for undocumented youth and young adults ([2012-D067](#))
- Urge the US government to terminate any program that allows or funds local law enforcement agencies enforcement of immigration law, thereby allowing immigrant victims of crime to report it without fear of deportation. ([2009-B006](#))
- Urge the US government to establish a moratorium on roadside checkpoints and raids carried out by Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) that tear families apart. ([2009-B006](#))
- Urge the US Congress to enact comprehensive immigration reform to give undocumented persons who have established roots in the United States a pathway to legalization and full social and economic integration into the United States. ([2009-B006](#))
- Urge the US government to allow undocumented youth who arrive as infants or children to pursue higher education and/or serve in the military in order to contribute to their communities and become citizens. ([2009-B006](#))
- Permit undocumented migrants residing in the US at the time of the enactment of legislation to pursue legal residence and eventual citizenship if they are employed or responding to an offer of employment. ([EXC062005.40](#))